Edgar Filing	g: ABERI	DEEN EME	RGING	MARK	ETS S	MALLER C	o Ol	PPORTU	NITIES	FUND, INC	C Form 3
ABERDEEN Form 3 March 22, 20		NG MARK	ETS SMA	ALLER	Co OF	PPORTUNI	FIES	FUND, IN	NC.		
FORM						SSION					
	Washington, D.C. 20549					OMB Number:	3235-0104				
				SE	Γ OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES 5(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,				Expires: Estimated a burden hou response		
		on 17(a) of t	he Public	Utility	Holdi	ng Company Company Act	Act	of 1935 of			0.0
(Print or Type R	Responses)										
1. Name and A Person <u>*</u> Pike Man		porting	2. Date of Statement (Month/D	ay/Year)	equiring	011000001 1 (un	EN EI	MERGINO	G MARK	ETS SMAI	LLER Co
(Last)	(First) (Middle) 03/15/2017 4. Relationship of Reporting 5. If				Amendment, Date Original d(Month/Day/Year)						
1735 MARK FLOOR	KET ST.,Â	32ND				(Check	all ap	plicable)			
	(Street)	A Â 10102				Director Officer (give title below Director of 1	w) (sp	10% Owr X Other pecify below) ment Adviso	Filing	vidual or Join (Check Applica) orm filed by One	ble Line)
PHILADEL	PHIA,A P	AA 19103								rm filed by Moi ing Person	e than One
(City)	(State)	(Zip)		Tab	ole I - N	Non-Derivat	ive S	Securities	Beneficia	ally Owned	l
1.Title of Secur (Instr. 4)	rity				eficially	f Securities Owned	Forn Dire	ership Ov n: (Ir ct (D) direct	Nature of I wnership astr. 5)	Indirect Benef	icial
Reminder: Repo owned directly	-		ch class of s	ecurities	benefici	ially S	EC 14	73 (7-02)			
	inforı requi	ons who resp nation conta red to respon ntly valid OM	ined in th 1d unless	is form the fori	are not m displa						
Т	fable II - De	rivative Secur	ities Benef	cially O	wned (e.	g., puts, calls,	warr	ants, option	s, converti	ble securities)
1. Title of Deri (Instr. 4)	vative Secur	Expir	e Exercisal ation Date Day/Year)	on Date Securi Year) Deriva		3. Title and Amount of Securities Underlying Derivative Security (Instr. 4)		l. Conversion or Exercise Price of	5. Ownershi Form of Derivativ	6. Nature of Indirect hip Beneficial Owners (Instr. 5)	
		Date Exerc	Ex isable Da	piration te	Title	Amount of Number of St	or s	Derivative Security	Security: Direct (D or Indirec		

Shares

(I) (Instr. 5)

Reporting Owners

Reporting Owner Name / Address	Relationships					
	Director	10% Owner	Officer	Other		
Pike Mandy 1735 MARKET ST. 32ND FLOOR PHILADELPHIA, PA 19103	Â	Â	Â	Director of Investment Advisor		
Signatures						
Robert Hepp as attorney in fact for Mandy Pike	r	0	3/22/20	17		
** Signature of Reporting Person			Date			

Explanation of Responses:

No securities are beneficially owned

* If the form is filed by more than one reporting person, see Instruction 5(b)(v).

** Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute Federal Criminal Violations. See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a).

Note: File three copies of this Form, one of which must be manually signed. If space is insufficient, *See* Instruction 6 for procedure. Potential persons who are to respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currently valid OMB number. "bottom">

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

EPAM SYSTEMS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	As of March 31, 2012 (in thousan and per	ds, exce	•
Assets	und per	Shure	uuu)
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 112,736	\$	88,796
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of \$1,786 and \$2,250, respectively	54,235		59,472
Unbilled revenues	41,961		24,475
Prepaid and other current assets	10,157		6,436
Deferred tax assets, current	4,016		4,384
Total current assets	223,105		183,563
Property and equipment, net	37,200		35,482
Restricted cash	2,404		2,582
Intangible assets, net	1,111		1,251
Goodwill	8,459		8,169
Deferred tax assets, long-term	1,791		1,875
Other long-term assets	540		2,691
Total assets	\$ 274,610	\$	235,613
Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Accounts payable	\$ 4,060	\$	2,714
Accrued expenses	13,301		24,782
Deferred revenue	5,479		6,949
Due to employees	14,035		8,234
Taxes payable	9,029		8,712
Deferred tax liabilities, current	1,205		1,736
Total current liabilities	47,109		53,127
Taxes payable, long-term	1,211		1,204
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term	283		283
Total liabilities	48,603		54,614
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 8)			
Preferred stock, \$.001 par value; 0 and 5,000,000 authorized at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011; 0 and 2,054,935 Series A-1 convertible redeemable preferred stock issued and outstanding at March 31, 2012			
and December 31, 2011; \$.001 par value 0 and 945,114 authorized at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, 0 and 384,804 Series A-2 convertible redeemable preferred stock issued and outstanding at March 31,			
2012 and December 31, 2011			85,940

Stockholders equity			
Common stock, \$.001 par value; 160,000,000 authorized; 44,016,335 and 18,914,616 shares issued,			
42,260,623 and 17,158,904 shares outstanding at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively	42		17
Preferred stock, \$.001 par value; 0 and 290,277 authorized Series A-3 convertible preferred stock issued and			
outstanding at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively			
Additional paid-in capital	157,232	4	40,020
Retained earnings	86,607	7	74,508
Treasury stock	(15,972)	(1	15,972)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,902)		(3,514)
Total stockholders equity	226,007	9	95,059
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 274,610	\$ 23	35.613
	÷ _: ,,,,,,,	÷ -•	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

EPAM SYSTEMS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)

	Three Mor Marc	nths Ended ch 31,	
	2012	2011	
		nds, except	
		re data)	
Revenues	\$ 94,383	\$ 72,802	
Operating expenses:	(0.175	15 505	
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)	60,175	45,505	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	17,627	13,793	
Depreciation and amortization expense	2,211	1,690	
Other operating expenses, net	586	2	
Income from operations	13,784	11,812	
Interest and other income, net	476	187	
Foreign exchange gain/ (loss)	80	(134)	
Income before provision for income taxes	14,340	11,865	
Provision for income taxes	2.241	2,123	
	2,271	2,125	
Net income	\$ 12,099	\$9,742	
Comprehensive income (Note 9)	\$ 13,711	\$ 10,993	
Accretion of preferred stock	\$	\$ (2,292)	
Net income allocated to participating securities	\$ (3,135)	\$ (4,188)	
Net income available for common stockholders	\$ 8,964	\$ 3,262	
	. ,	. ,	
Net income per share of common stock:	¢ 0.20	¢ 0.10	
Basic (common)	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.19	
Basic (puttable common)	\$	\$ 0.19	
Diluted (common)	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.18	
Diluted (puttable common)	\$	\$ 0.18	
Shares used in calculation of net income per share of common stock:	20.107	17.054	
Basic (common)	30,197	17,054	
Basic (puttable common)	22.057	57	
Diluted (common)	33,957	19,381	
Diluted (puttable common) The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited condense		57	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

EPAM SYSTEMS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Inded	
2011	
)	
0.742	
9,742	
1.690	
(26	
(294	
714	
/14	
(397	
(397	
2,399	
(10,639)	
440	
(600	
(4,877	
(983	
3,711	
(518	
(318	
362	
(6,318)	
(83)	
(6,401)	
666	
(7.0	
(5,373)	
54,004	

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

\$ 112,736 \$ 48,631

Summary of non-cash investing and financing transactions:

Accretion of Series A-2 convertible redeemable preferred stock was \$0 in 2012 and \$2,292 in 2011.

Total incurred but not paid costs related to stock issue were \$572 in 2012 and \$0 in 2011. The accompanying notes are an integral part of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

EPAM SYSTEMS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(US DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of EPAM Systems, Inc. (the Company or EPAM) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and Article 10 of Regulation S-X under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company s audited consolidated financial statements (and notes thereto) for the year ended December 31, 2011. In the Company s opinion, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been included, and all adjustments are of a normal and recurring nature. Operating results for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected to occur for the entire year.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience, knowledge of current conditions and its beliefs of what could occur in the future, given available information. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the financial statements.

Emerging growth company status In April 2012, several weeks after EPAM s initial public offering in February 2012, President Obama signed into law the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the JOBS Act). The JOBS Act contains provisions that relax certain requirements for emerging growth companies that otherwise apply to larger public companies. For as long as a company retains emerging growth company status, which may be until the fiscal year-end after the fifth anniversary of its initial public offering, it will not be required to (1) provide an auditor s attestation report on its management s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, otherwise required by Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (2) comply with any new or revised financial accounting standard applicable to public companies until such standard is also applicable to private companies, (3) comply with certain new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, (4) provide certain disclosure regarding executive compensation required of larger public companies or (5) hold shareholder advisory votes on matters relating to executive compensation.

EPAM is classified as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act, and is eligible to take advantage of the accommodations described above for as long as it retains this status. However, EPAM has elected not to take advantage of the transition period described in (2) above, which is the exemption provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (in each case as amended by the JOBS Act) for complying with new or revised financial accounting standards. EPAM will therefore comply with new or revised financial accounting standards to the same extent that a non-emerging growth company is required to comply with such standards.

2. PREFERRED AND COMMON STOCK

On January 19, 2012, the Company effected an 8 to 1 stock split of the Company s common stock, on which date the number of authorized common and preferred stock was increased to 160,000,000 and 40,000,000 shares, respectively. All shares of common stock, options to purchase common stock and per share information presented in the consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis for all periods presented. There was no change in the par value of the Company s common stock. The ratio by which the then outstanding shares of Series A-1 Preferred, Series A-2 Preferred and Series A-3 Preferred Stock were convertible into shares of common stock had been adjusted to reflect the effects of the common stock split, such that each share of preferred stock was convertible into eight shares of common stock.

In February 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering of 6,900,000 shares of its common stock, which included 900,000 shares of common stock sold by the Company pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters, which were sold at a price to the public of \$12.00 per share. The offering commenced on February 7, 2012 and closed on February 13, 2012. Of the 6,900,000 shares of common stock sold, the Company issued and sold 2,900,000 shares of common stock and its selling

stockholders sold 4,000,000 shares of common stock, resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of \$34,800 and \$28,969 in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$2,436 and offering expenses of \$3,395. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders.

Upon the closing of the initial public offering, all outstanding Series-A1 and Series-A2 convertible redeemable preferred stock, and Series A3 convertible preferred stock were converted into 21,840,128 shares of common stock, as shown in the table below.

	Conversion Shares
Series A-1 Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock	16,439,480
Series A-2 Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock	3,078,432
Series A-3 Convertible Preferred Stock	2,322,216
Total	21,840,128

On August 20, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with Instant Information Inc. to issue shares of common stock to Instant Information Inc. as consideration for the acquisition of the assets of Instant Information Inc, subject to achievement of certain financial milestones or upon the completion of an initial public offering by the Company. 53,336 shares of common stock were issued to Instant Information Inc. upon completion of this offering for an aggregate value of \$640.

3. GOODWILL

Changes in goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2012 are as follows:

North America	EU	Russia	Other	Total
2,286	2,864	3,019	1,697	9,866
			(1,697)	(1,697)
2,286	2,864	3,019		8,169
,	,	,		,
		290		290
		_, .		-, -
2,286	2,864	3,309	1,697	10,156
			(1,697)	(1,697)
\$ 2,286	\$ 2,864	\$ 3,309		\$ 8,459
	2,286 2,286 2,286	2,286 2,864 2,286 2,864 2,286 2,864	2,286 2,864 3,019 2,286 2,864 3,019 290 2,286 2,864 3,309	2,286 2,864 3,019 1,697 (1,697) 2,286 2,864 3,019 290 2,286 2,864 3,309 1,697 (1,697) 2,286 2,864 3,309 1,697 (1,697)

The Company values goodwill at fair value on a non-recurring basis. When testing for impairment, the Company first compares the fair value of its reporting units to the recorded values. Valuation methods used to determine fair value are based on the analysis of the discounted future cash flows that a reporting unit is expected to generate (Income Approach). These valuations are considered Level 3 measurements under FASB ASC Topic 820. The Company utilizes estimates to determine the fair value of the reporting units such as future cash flows, growth rates, capital requirements, effective tax rates and projected margins, among other factors. Estimates utilized in the future evaluations of goodwill for impairment could differ from estimates used in the current period calculations. If the carrying amount of the reporting units exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered potentially impaired and a second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss.

4. RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash consists of the following:

	March 31, 2012	December 31, 2011	
Security deposits under client contracts	\$ 1,829	\$	2,082
Deposit under employee loan programs	468		393
Security deposit under operating leases	107		107
Total	\$ 2,404	\$	2,582

At March 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, security deposits under client contracts included fixed amounts placed in respect of letters of credit and a bank guarantee intended to secure appropriate performance under respective contracts. The Company estimates the probability of non-performance under the contracts as remote, therefore, no provision for losses has been created in respect of these amounts as of March 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011.

Included in restricted cash as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, were deposits of \$468 and \$393, respectively, placed in connection with certain employee loan programs (See Note 8).

5. LONG-TERM DEBT

Revolving Line of Credit In November 2006, the Company entered into a revolving credit loan and security agreement (collectively Credit Facility or Facility) with a bank (the Bank). The Credit Facility is comprised of a five year revolving line of credit pursuant to which the Company can borrow up to \$7,000 at any point in time based on borrowing availability, as defined, at LIBOR plus 1.25%. In September 2010, the Company extended the term of the Facility through October 15, 2013. On July 25, 2011, the Company and the Bank agreed to amend the Facility to increase the borrowing capacity to \$30,000. The maximum borrowing availability under the Facility is based upon a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and US cash. As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the borrowing availability was \$23,371 and \$30,000, respectively.

The Facility is collateralized by 85% of US trade receivables, as defined, and US cash representing the lesser of (a) available cash on hand, and (b) \$10,000, \$5,000 and \$0 for the periods ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants, including financial and coverage ratios. As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had no outstanding borrowing under the facility and was in compliance with all debt covenants as of those dates.

6. INCOME TAXES

The Company s worldwide effective tax rate was 15.6% and 17.9% in the first quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively. The decrease in the Company s worldwide effective tax rate in the first quarter of 2012 as compared to the same period of 2011 was primarily due to the movement of a portion of the Company s pre-tax income from the United States to countries with lower statutory tax rates such as the United Kingdom, Russia and Belarus; and the reduction in 2012 statutory tax rates in Ukraine, the United Kingdom and, to a lesser extent, in Switzerland.

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income applicable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the same period. The Company s Series A-1 Preferred, Series A-2 Preferred, and Series A-3 Preferred Stock, that had been outstanding and convertible into common stock until February 13, 2012, and its puttable common stock were considered participating securities since these securities had non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents during the contractual period and thus required the two-class method of computing EPS. When calculating diluted EPS, the numerator is computed by adding back the undistributed earnings allocated to the participating securities in arriving at the basic EPS and then reallocating such undistributed earnings among the company s common stock, participating securities and the potential common shares that result from the assumed exercise of all dilutive options. The denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding had the options been issued.

No preferred stock was outstanding as of March 31, 2012, as a result of the Company s initial public offering on February 13, 2012 when all convertible preferred stock was converted into common stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share as follows:

	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2012 (in thousar per shai	· •	
Numerator for common earnings per share:	-		
Net income	\$ 12,099	\$ 9,742	
Accretion of preferred stock		(2,292)	
Net income allocated to participating securities	(3,135)	(4,188)	
Numerator for basic (common) earnings per share	8,964	3,262	
Effect on income available from reallocation of options	265	236	
Numerator for diluted (common) earnings per share	\$ 9,229	\$ 3,498	
Numerator for (puttable common) earnings per share:			
Net income allocated to basic (puttable common)		11	
Effect on income available from reallocation of options		(1)	
Numerator for diluted (puttable common) earnings per share		10	
Denominator for basic (common) earnings per share:			
Weighted average common shares outstanding	30,197	17,054	
Effect of dilutive securities:			
Stock options	3,760	2,327	
Denominator for diluted (common) earnings per share	33,957	19,381	
Denominator for basic and diluted (puttable common) earnings per			
share:		57	
Weighted average puttable common shares outstanding		57	
Earnings per share:			
Basic (common)	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.19	
Basic (puttable common)		0.19	
Diluted (common)	0.27	0.18	
Diluted (puttable common)		0.18	
Anti-dilutive options not included in the calculation	1,400		

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Employee Loan Program Beginning in third quarter of 2006, the Company started to guarantee bank loans for certain of its key employees. Under the conditions of the guarantees, the Company is required to maintain a security deposit of 30% of the value of loans outstanding at each reporting date. As of March 31, 2012, the total commitment of the Company under these guarantees was \$715. The Company estimates a probability of material losses under the program as remote, therefore, no provision for losses was recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2012.

9. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were as follows:

	March 31, 2012	December 31, 2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$ (1,902)	\$ (3,514)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income	\$ (1,902)	\$ (3,514)

The components of comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

	2012	2011
Comprehensive income:		
Net income	\$ 12,099	\$9,742
Foreign currency translation adjustments	1,612	1,251
Total comprehensive income	\$ 13,711	\$ 10,993

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Company s reportable segments are: North America, Europe, Russia and Other. This determination is based on the unique business practices and market specifics of each region and that each region engages in business activities from which it earns revenues and incurs expenses. The Company s chief operating decision maker evaluates the Company s performance and allocates resources based on segment revenues and operating profit. Segment operating profit is defined as income from operations before unallocated costs. Generally, operating expenses for each operating profit consist principally of direct selling and delivery costs as well as an allocation of certain shared services expenses. Certain expenses are not specifically allocated to specific segments as management does not believe it is practical to allocate such costs to individual segments because they are not directly attributable to any specific segment. Further, stock based compensation expense is not allocated to individual segments in internal management reports used by the chief operating decision maker. Accordingly, these expenses are separately disclosed as unallocated and adjusted only against the Company s total income from operations.

Revenues from external customers and segment operating profit, before unallocated expenses, for the North America, Europe, Russia and Other reportable segments for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, were as follows:

	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2012	2011	
Total segment revenues:			
North America	\$ 42,863	\$ 34,166	
Europe	39,861	25,202	
Russia	9,477	9,996	
Other	2,170	3,329	
Total segment revenues	\$ 94,371	\$ 72,693	
Segment operating profit:			
North America	\$ 9,726	\$ 8,624	
Europe	8,660	4,384	
Russia	319	1,382	
Other	201	296	
Total segment operating profit	\$ 18,906	\$ 14,686	

Intersegment transactions were excluded from the above on the basis they are neither included into the measure of a segment s profit and loss by the chief operating decision maker, nor provided to the chief operating decision maker on a regular basis.

Reconciliation of segment revenues and operating profit to consolidated income from operations is presented below:

		Three Months Ended March 31,	
	2012	2011	
Total segment revenues	\$ 94,371	\$ 72,693	
Unallocated revenue	12	109	
Revenues	\$ 94,383	\$ 72,802	

	Three Mon Marc	
	2012	2011
Total segment operating profit	\$ 18,906	\$ 14,686
Unallocated amounts:		
Other revenues	12	109
Stock-based compensation expense	(1,550)	(714)
Stock charge (Note 2)	(640)	
Non-corporate taxes	(725)	(580)
Professional fees	(429)	(298)
Depreciation and amortization	(157)	(230)
Bank charges	(249)	(149)
Other corporate expenses	(1,384)	(1,012)
Income from operations	\$ 13,784	\$ 11,812

Geographic Area Information

Management has determined that it is not practical to allocate identifiable assets by segment since such assets are used interchangeably amongst the segments. Geographical information about the Company s long-lived assets based on physical location of the assets was as follows:

	As of March 3 2012	31, As o	of December 31, 2011
Belarus	\$ 26,51	2 \$	26,001
Ukraine	4,78	9	4,314
Russia	2,25	4	2,011
United States	1,49	9	1,445
Hungary	1,57	7	1,108
Other	56	9	603
Total	\$ 37,20	0 \$	35,482

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Information about the Company s revenues by client location was as follows:

		nths Ended ch 31,
	2012	2011
United States	\$ 46,039	\$ 37,257
United Kingdom	22,928	13,668
Russia	9,098	9,503
Switzerland	6,145	3,595
Germany	3,482	1,325
Kazakhstan	1,671	1,745
Sweden	1,455	1,298
Netherlands	790	1,242
Other locations	1,688	2,069
Reimbursable expenses and other revenues	1,087	1,100
Revenues	\$ 94,383	\$ 72,802

Revenues by client location differ from the segment information above, which is not solely based on the geographic location of the clients but rather is based on managerial responsibility for a particular client regardless of where the client is located.

Service Offering Information

Information about the Company s revenues by service offering was as follows:

		Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2012	2011		
Software development	\$ 62,883	\$ 47,995		
Application testing services	18,868	14,310		
Application maintenance and support	8,241	6,646		

Kennbulsable expenses and other revenues	804	2,604 700	Infrastructure services Licensing Baimburshile expanses and other revenues
Revenues \$94.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1,087 \$ 94,383	Reimbursable expenses and other revenues

11. STOCK COMPENSATION

The following costs related to the Company s stock compensation plans are included in the unaudited consolidated statements of income:

		Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2012	2011		
Cost of revenues	\$ 566	\$ 270		
Sales, general and administrative	984	444		
Total	\$ 1,550	\$ 714		

On January 16, 2012, the Company issued 194,800 shares of non-vested (restricted) common stock to Mr. Robb, President of EU Operations and Executive Vice President. These restricted shares vested 25% on January 16, 2012, and are scheduled to vest 25% on each of January 1, 2013, 2014, and 2015. On termination of Mr. Robb s service to the company with Cause or without Good Reason (in each case, as defined in the award agreement), any unvested restricted shares will be forfeited. In addition, under the restricted stock award agreement, Mr. Robb is subject to perpetual confidentiality and non-disclosure obligations as well as non-competition and employee and customer non-solicitation obligations that survive for a period of 12 months after the termination of service to the company. Fair market value of these restricted shares on the date of grant was \$2,338. The stock-based compensation charge related to the shares granted for the three months ended March 31, 2012, was \$731.

2012 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan On January 11, 2012 the Company approved the 2012 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan (2012 Directors Plan), which will be used to issue equity grants to its non-employee directors. The Company authorized 600,000 shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance under the plan. The 2012 Directors Plan will expire after ten years and will be administered by the Company s board of directors.

On January 18, 2012, the Company issued 11,764 shares of non-vested (restricted) common stock to its non-employee directors. The shares will vest and become non-forfeitable 25% on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date. On termination of service from the Board at any time, a portion of restricted shares shall vest as of the date of such termination on a pro rata basis, determined by the number of days that the participant served on the Board from the grant date through the date of such termination. Fair market value of these restricted shares on the date of grant was \$141. The stock-based compensation charge related to the shares granted for the three months ended March 31, 2012, was \$7.

2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan On January 11, 2012 the Company approved the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2012 Plan), which will be used to issue equity grants to employees. The Company authorized 9,246,800 shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance under the plan. This is in addition to 733,808 shares that remained available for issuance under the 2006 Plan as of January 11, 2012 and which are available for issuance under the 2012 Plan. In addition, up to 6,595,136 shares that are subject to outstanding awards as of January 1, 2012, under the 2006 Plan and that expire or terminate for any reason prior to exercise or that would otherwise return to the 2006 Plan s share reserve will be available for awards to be granted under the 2012 Plan.

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company issued 1,402,040 options to purchase common stock under the 2012 Plan with an aggregate grant date fair value of \$10,566.

As of March 31, 2012, a total of 8,583,768 shares remained available for issuance under the 2012 Plan.

2006 Stock Option Plan Effective May 31, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2006 Stock Option Plan (the 2006 Plan). The Company s stock option plan permitted the granting of options to directors, employees, and certain independent contractors. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors generally had the authority to select individuals who are to receive options and to specify the terms and conditions of each option so granted, including the number of shares covered by the

option, the exercise price, vesting provisions, and the overall option term. In January 2012, the 2006 Plan was discontinued; however, a total of 737,008 shares remain available for issuance under the 2012 Plan as of March 31, 2012. All of the options issued pursuant to the 2006 Plan expire ten years from the date of grant.

Stock option activity under the Company s plans is set forth below:

	Number of Options	eighted verage	ggregate insic Value
Options outstanding at December 31, 2011	6,595,136	\$ 4.65	\$ 48,447
Options granted	1,402,040	16.80	5,214
Options exercised	(134,717)	3.08	(2,349)
Options forfeited/cancelled	(5,200)	8.16	(64)
Options outstanding at March 31, 2012	7,857,259	\$ 6.85	\$ 107,409
Options vested and exercisable at March 31, 2012	4,351,779	\$ 3.07	\$ 75,939
Options expected to vest	3,223,619	\$ 11.40	\$ 29,398

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Company recognizes the fair value of each option as compensation expense ratably using the straight-line method over the service period (generally the vesting period). Additionally, the Company estimates forfeitures at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company uses a combination of historical data and other factors to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record share-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest.

As of March 31, 2012, total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation awards was \$17,183. That cost is expected to be recognized over the next 2 years using the weighted average method.

Summary of restricted stock activity as of March 31, 2012, and changes during the three months then ended is presented below:

	Number of Shares	Avera	eighted age Grant Fair Value
Unvested restricted stock outstanding at January 1, 2012		\$	
Restricted stock granted	206,564		2,479
Restricted stock vested	(48,700)		(584)
Unvested restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2012	157,864	\$	1,895

12. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU or Update) No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS which is intended to create consistency between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The amendments include clarification on the application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expanded disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. This guidance is effective prospectively for public entities for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption by public entities prohibited. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on the Company s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income which requires comprehensive income to be reported in either a single statement or in two consecutive statements reporting net income and other

comprehensive income. The amendment does not change what items are reported in other comprehensive income. Additionally, in December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05 which indefinitely defers the requirement in ASU No. 2011-05 to present reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component in both the statement in which net income is presented and the statement in which other comprehensive income is presented. During the deferral period, the existing requirements in U.S.

GAAP for the presentation of reclassification adjustments must continue to be followed. These standards are effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and are to be applied retrospectively, with early adoption permitted. As these standards impact presentation requirements only, the adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On April 5, 2012, the Company granted 7,092 shares of non-vested (restricted) stock to its non-employee directors under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan. The restricted stock vests and becomes 100% non-forfeitable on the first anniversary of the grant date. Upon termination of service from the Board at any time, a portion of the restricted stock shall vest as of the date of such termination on a pro rata basis for the number of days that the participant served on the Board from the grant date through the date of such termination. The fair market value of the restricted stock on date of grant was \$150.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this quarterly report. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from management s expectations. Factors that could cause such differences are discussed in the sections entitled Forward-Looking Statements and Item IA. Risk Factors. We assume no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements.

In this quarterly report, EPAM, EPAM Systems, Inc., the Company, we, us and our refer to EPAM Systems, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Overview

We are a leading global IT services provider focused on complex software product development services, software engineering and vertically-oriented custom development solutions. Since our inception in 1993, we have been serving independent software vendors, or ISVs, and technology companies. The foundation we have built serving ISVs and technology companies has enabled us to differentiate ourselves in the market for software engineering skills and technology capabilities. Our work with these clients exposes us to their customers – challenges across a variety of industry – verticals. This has enabled us to develop vertical-specific domain expertise and grow our business in multiple industry verticals, including Banking and Financial Services, Business Information and Media, Travel and Hospitality and Retail and Consumer.

Our delivery centers in Belarus, Ukraine, Russia, Hungary, Kazakhstan and Poland are strategically located in centers of software engineering talent and educational excellence across CEE or the CIS. Our applications, tools, methodologies and infrastructure allow us to seamlessly deliver services and solutions from our delivery centers to global clients, thereby further strengthening our relationships with them. We also have client management locations in the United States, the United Kingdom, Germany, Sweden, Russia, Switzerland and Kazakhstan.

Our clients primarily consist of Forbes Global 2000 corporations located in North America, Europe and the CIS. Our focus on delivering quality to our clients is reflected by an average of 80.6% and 65.2% of our revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2012 coming from clients that had used our services for at least two and three years, respectively.

On February 13, 2012, we completed our initial public offering of 6,900,000 shares of our common stock, which included 900,000 shares of our common stock sold by us pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters, were sold at a price to the public of \$12.00 per share. Of the 6,900,000 shares of common stock sold, we issued and sold 2,900,000 shares of common stock and our selling stockholders sold 4,000,000 shares of common stock, resulting in gross proceeds to us of \$34.8 million, and \$29.0 million in net proceeds to us after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$2.4 million and estimated offering expenses of \$3.4 million. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders.

In April 2012, several weeks after EPAM s initial public offering in February 2012, President Obama signed into law the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the JOBS Act). The JOBS Act contains provisions that relax certain requirements for emerging growth companies that otherwise apply to larger public companies. For as long as a company retains emerging growth company status, which may be until the fiscal year-end after the fifth anniversary of its initial public offering, it will not be required to (1) provide an auditor s attestation report on its management s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, otherwise required by Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (2) comply with any new or revised financial accounting standard applicable to public companies until such standard is also applicable to private companies, (3) comply with certain new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, (4) provide certain disclosure regarding executive compensation required of larger public companies or (5) hold shareholder advisory votes on matters relating to executive compensation.

EPAM is classified as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act, and is eligible to take advantage of the accommodations described above for as long as it retains this status. However, EPAM has elected not to take advantage of the transition period described in (2) above, which is the exemption provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (in each case as amended by the JOBS Act) for complying with new or revised financial accounting standards. EPAM will therefore comply with new or revised financial accounting standards to the same extent that a non-emerging growth company is required to comply with such standards.

EPAM expects to take advantage of the exemption from complying with the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. EPAM s board of directors has not yet determined whether to take advantage of the accommodations relating to executive compensation disclosure and advisory voting.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

We have identified the accounting policies which are critical to understanding our business and our results of operations. Management believes that there have been no significant changes during the first quarter of 2012 to the items disclosed in our summary of critical accounting policies, significant judgments and estimates in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, other than those described below.

Earnings per Share

Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income applicable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the same period. Our Series A-1 Preferred, Series A-2 Preferred, and Series A-3 Preferred Stock, that had been outstanding and convertible into common stock until February 13, 2012, and our puttable common stock were considered participating securities since these securities had non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents during the contractual period and thus required the two-class method of computing EPS. When calculating diluted EPS, the numerator is computed by adding back the undistributed earnings allocated to the participating securities in arriving at the basic EPS and then reallocating such undistributed earnings among our common stock, participating securities and the potential common shares that result from the assumed exercise of all dilutive options. The denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding had the options been issued.

No preferred stock was outstanding as of March 31, 2012, as a result of our initial public offering on February 13, 2012 when all convertible preferred stock was converted into common stock.

Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

We have benefited significantly from growth in the global software development services industry. Growth in the industry is driven by the needs of major corporations to maintain and upgrade the technology and services required to operate in a cost-efficient manner. Software companies are also increasingly outsourcing work to IT services providers in order to streamline and reduce the cost of the software development process. The CEE software development services market is growing rapidly due to its large pool of skilled IT professionals, highly developed infrastructure, strong government support and incentives, the geographic and cultural proximity between CEE countries and Europe and the desire of clients to diversify their use of software development services to multiple delivery locations.

The growth in the global software development services industry has also increased the cost of attracting and retaining high quality IT professionals in CEE and the CIS at a higher rate than we have historically faced. In addition, we face competition from offshore IT services providers in emerging outsourcing destinations with low wage costs such as India and China and our clients buying patterns could change if they become more price sensitive and accepting of low-cost suppliers. We believe the EPAM brand name and our reputation are important corporate assets that help distinguish our services from those of our competitors and also contribute to our efforts to recruit and retain talented employees in CEE and the CIS. We seek to accurately manage our pricing and cost estimates when negotiating contract terms with our clients to ensure we are able to maintain appropriate levels of project profitability while providing a high quality of service. We also seek to maintain optimal resource utilization levels and productivity with the efficient allocation of our IT professionals and facilities in our development centers in CEE and the CIS.

We believe that the most significant factors affecting our results of operations include:

market demand for software development services;

economic growth rates in the industries and countries in which our clients operate;

shortages of skilled IT professionals;

ISVs and technology companies increasingly outsourcing work to IT service professionals to more efficiently scale their operations with strong software engineering skills;

wage rates in countries where we operate, particularly in CEE countries where most of our employees are based; and

changes in foreign exchange rates, especially relative changes in exchange rates between the U.S dollar and the British pound, euro, Russian ruble and Hungarian forint.

Our results of operations in any given period are also directly affected by company-specific factors, including:

our ability to obtain new clients and generate repeat business from existing clients;

our ability to expand the quality, range and delivery of our portfolio of service offerings and our expertise relative to our competitors;

our ability to efficiently manage and utilize our IT professionals; and

our ability to identify, integrate and effectively manage businesses that we acquire. Certain Income Statement Line Items

Revenues

Revenues are derived primarily from providing software development services to our clients. During the three months ended March 31, 2012, revenues increased by 29.6% to \$94.4 million from \$72.8 million in the first quarter of 2011. We discuss below the breakdown of our revenues by service offering, vertical, client location, contract type and client concentration. Revenues consist of IT services revenues and reimbursable expenses and other revenues, which primarily include travel and entertainment costs that are chargeable to clients.

Revenues by Vertical

The foundation we have built with ISVs and technology companies has enabled us to leverage our strong domain knowledge and industry-specific knowledge capabilities to become a premier IT services provider to a range of additional verticals such as Banking and Financial Services, Business Information and Media, Travel and Hospitality and Retail and Consumer. The following table sets forth revenues by vertical by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated:

	Three Months Ended March 31,			,
	201	-	201	-
	(in 1	thousands, exc	ept percentage	5)
Vertical				
ISVs and Technology	\$ 24,100	25.5%	\$ 19,937	27.4%
Banking and Financial Services	22,567	23.9	16,307	22.4
Business Information and Media	15,453	16.4	15,156	20.8
Travel and Hospitality	11,645	12.3	7,748	10.6
Retail and Consumer	12,234	13.0	5,783	7.9
Other verticals	7,297	7.7	6,771	9.4
Reimbursable expenses and other revenues	1,087	1.2	1,100	1.5
-				
Revenues	\$ 94,383	100.0%	\$ 72,802	100.0%

Revenues by Client Location

Our revenues are sourced from three geographic markets: North America, Europe and the CIS. We present our revenues by client location based on the location of the specific client site that we serve, irrespective of the location of the headquarters of the client or the location of the delivery center where the work is performed. As such, revenues by client location differ from the segment information in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report, which information is not solely based on the geographic location of the clients but rather is based on managerial responsibility for a particular client regardless of client location. The following table sets forth revenues by client location by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated:

		Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 2011		
			ept percentages	
Client Location				
North America	\$ 46,822	49.6%	\$ 37,308	51.2%
Europe	35,321	37.4	21,781	29.9
United Kingdom	22,928	24.3	13,668	18.8
Other	12,393	13.1	8,113	11.1
CIS	11,153	11.8	12,613	17.4
Russia	9,098	9.6	9,503	13.1
Other	2,055	2.2	3,110	4.3
Reimbursable expenses and other revenues	1,087	1.2	1,100	1.5
Revenues	\$ 94,383	100.0%	\$ 72,802	100.0%

Revenues by Service Offering

Software development includes software product development, custom application development services and enterprise application platform services, and has historically represented, and we expect to continue to represent, the substantial majority of our business. The following table sets forth revenues by service offering by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated:

	Three Months Ended March 31,20122011			/	
Samia Offering	(in tl	(in thousands, except percentages)			
Service Offering Software development	\$ 62,883	66.6%	\$ 47,995	65.9%	
Application testing services	18,868	20.0	14,310	19.7	
Application maintenance and support	8,241	8.7	6,646	9.1	
Infrastructure services	2,604	2.8	1,947	2.7	
Licensing	700	0.7	804	1.1	
Reimbursable expenses and other revenues	1,087	1.2	1,100	1.5	
Revenues	\$ 94,383	100.0%	\$ 72,802	100.0%	

Revenues by Contract Type

Our services are performed under both time-and-material and fixed-price arrangements. Our engagement models depend on the type of services provided to a client, the mix and locations of professionals involved and the business outcomes our clients are looking to achieve. Historically, the majority of our revenues have been generated under time-and-material contracts. Under time-and-material contracts, we are compensated for actual time incurred by our IT professionals at negotiated hourly, daily or monthly rates. Fixed-price contracts require us to perform services throughout the contractual period and we are paid in installments on pre-agreed intervals. We expect time-and-material arrangements to continue to comprise the majority of our revenues in the future.

The following table sets forth revenues by contract type by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated:

		Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 2011			
	(in the	(in thousands, except percentages)			
Contract Type					
Time-and-material	\$ 84,257	89.3%	\$ 63,038	86.6%	
Fixed-price	8,339	8.8	7,860	10.8	
Licensing	700	0.7	804	1.1	

Reimbursable expenses and other revenues	1,087	1.2	1,100	1.5
Revenues	\$ 94,383	100.0%	\$ 72,802	100.0%

Revenues by Client Concentration

We have grown our revenues from our clients by continually expanding the scope and size of our engagements, and we have grown our key client base through internal business development efforts and several strategic acquisitions.

Our focus on delivering quality to our clients is reflected by an average of 80.6% and 65.2% of our revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2012 coming from clients that had used our services for at least two and three years, respectively. In addition, we have significantly grown the size of existing accounts. The number of clients that accounted for over \$5.0 million in annual revenues was 15 in 2011, and the number of clients that generated at least \$0.5 million in revenues in 2011was 98.

The following table sets forth revenues contributed by our top five and top ten clients by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated:

	Three	Three Months Ended March 31,			
	2012		2011		
	(in th	(in thousands, except percentages)			
Top five	\$ 32,605	34.5%	\$ 24,910	34.2%	
Top ten	45,453	48.2	33,570	46.1	

During the three months ended March 31, 2012 we had no clients accounting for over 10% of our revenues. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, one client, Thomson Reuters accounted for over 10% of our revenues. The volume of work we perform for specific clients is likely to vary from year to year, as we are typically not any client s exclusive external IT services provider, and a major client in one year may not contribute the same amount or percentage of our revenues in any subsequent year.

Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization)

The principal components of our cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) are salaries, employee benefits and stock compensation expense, travel costs and subcontractor fees. Salaries and other compensation expenses of our IT professionals are allocated to cost of revenues regardless of whether they are actually performing services during a given period.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses represent expenses associated with promoting and selling our services and include such items as senior management, administrative personnel and sales and marketing personnel salaries, stock compensation expense and related fringe benefits, legal and audit expenses, commissions, insurance, operating lease expenses, travel costs and the cost of advertising and other promotional activities. In addition, we pay a membership fee of 1% of revenues collected in Belarus to the administrative organization of the Belarus Hi-Tech Park.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses have increased primarily as a result of our expanding operations, acquisitions, and the hiring of a number of senior managers to support our growth. We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to continue to increase in absolute terms as our business expands but will generally remain steady or slightly decrease as a percentage of our revenues.

Provision for Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for income tax expense, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and related valuation allowance, if any, involves judgment. As a global company, we are required to calculate and provide for income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. During the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, we had \$10.8 million and \$5.2 million, respectively, in income before provision for income taxes attributed to our foreign jurisdictions. The statutory tax rate in our foreign jurisdictions is lower than the statutory U.S. tax rate. Additionally, we have secured special tax benefits in Belarus and Hungary as described below. As a result, our provision for income taxes is low in comparison to income before taxes due to the benefit received from increased income earned in low tax jurisdictions. The foreign tax rate differential represents this significant reduction. Changes in the geographic mix or estimated level of annual pre-tax income can also affect our overall effective income tax rate.

Our provision for income taxes also includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income tax positions, as well as the related net interest. Tax exposures can involve complex issues and may require an extended period to resolve. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, we cannot assure you that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different from our current estimates. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, statute of limitation lapse or the refinement of an estimate. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters differs from the amounts recorded, such differences will impact the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

Our subsidiary in Belarus is a member of the Belarus Hi-Tech Park, in which member technology companies are 100% exempt from the current Belarusian income tax rate of 24%. The On High-Technologies Park Decree, which created the Belarus Hi-Tech Park, is in effect for a period of 15 years from July 1, 2006.

Our subsidiary in Hungary benefits from a tax credit of 10% of annual qualified salaries, taken over a four-year period, for up to 70% of the total tax due for that period. We have been able to take the full 70% credit for 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011. The Hungarian tax authorities repealed the tax credit beginning with 2012. Credits earned in years prior to 2012, will be allowed until fully utilized. We anticipate full utilization up to the 70% limit until 2014, with full phase out in 2015.

Our domestic income before provision for income taxes differs from the North America segment operating profit because segment operating profit is a management reporting measure, which does not take into account most corporate expenses, as well as the majority of non-operating costs and stock compensation expenses. We do not hold our segment managers accountable for these expenses, as they cannot influence these costs within the scope of their operating authority, nor do we believe it is practical to allocate these costs to specific segments as they are not directly attributable to any specific segment. All our segments are treated consistently with respect to such expenses when determining segment operating profit.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations by amount and as a percentage of our revenues for the periods indicated. This information should be read together with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this quarterly report. The operating results in any period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 2011 (in thousands, except percentages)			
Revenues	\$ 94,383	100.0%	\$ 72,802	100.0%
Operating expenses:				
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)(1)	60,175	63.8	45,505	62.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses(2)	17,627	18.7	13,793	18.9
Depreciation and amortization expense	2,211	2.3	1,690	2.3
Other operating expenses, net	586	0.6	2	0.0
Income from operations	13,784	14.6	11,812	16.3
Interest and other income, net	476	0.5	187	0.3
Foreign exchange (loss)	80	0.1	(134)	(0.2)

Income before provision for income taxes	14,340	15.2	11,865	16.4
Provision for income taxes	2,241	2.4	2,123	3.0
Net income	\$ 12,099	12.8%	\$ 9,742	13.4%

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense of \$566 and \$270 for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense of \$984 and \$444 for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

First Quarter of 2012 Compared to First Quarter 2011

Revenues

Revenues were \$94.4 million in the first quarter of 2012, representing an increase of 29.6% from \$72.8 million in the first quarter of 2011. The increase was primarily driven by the following factors:

increased revenue across all of our key verticals. In particular, Banking and Financial Services continued to experience an increase in revenues on strong demand from existing clients, with revenues growing by \$6.3 million, or 38.4%, to \$22.6 million in the first quarter of 2012 as compared to \$16.3 million in the first quarter of 2011;

revenues from Europe grew 62.2% to \$35.3 million in the first quarter of 2012 from \$21.8 million in the first quarter of 2011, and revenues from North America grew 25.5% to \$46.8 million in the first quarter of 2012 from \$37.3 million in the first quarter of 2011; and

revenues from existing clients continued to increase during the first quarter of 2012. Revenues attributable to our top ten clients as of March 31, 2012 increased by \$11.9 million in the first quarter of 2012 as compared to the first quarter of 2011. This represented 55.0% of the overall increase in revenues in the first quarter of 2012.

Cost of Revenues (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization)

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) was \$60.2 million in the first quarter of 2012, representing an increase of 32.2% from \$45.5 million in the first quarter of 2011. The increase was primarily attributable to a net increase of 1,506 IT professionals from March 31, 2011 to March 31, 2012, to support the growth in demand for our services. As a percentage of revenues, cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased to 63.8% in the first quarter of 2012 from 62.5% in the first quarter of 2011 primarily due to increase in compensation and benefits of our IT professionals and external contractors in the first quarter of 2012 compared to such period of 2011.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were \$17.6 million in the first quarter of 2012, representing an increase of 27.8% from \$13.8 million in the first quarter of 2011. The growth was primarily attributable to increased overhead costs and non-production staff required to support the growth in the business. Non-production staff headcount increased by 321, or 34.9%, from 920 at March 31, 2011 to 1,241 at March 31, 2012, stock compensation expense increased from \$0.4 million to \$1.0 million due to issuance of restricted stock to certain directors, and facilities expenses increased by \$0.7 million, or 23.6% in the first quarter of 2012, to \$3.7 million as compared to the first quarter of 2011. However, as a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 18.7% in the first quarter of 2012 from 18.9% in the first quarter of 2011 primarily due to decreasing use of external contractors and consultants as a result of growth in non-production staff headcount.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense was \$2.2 million in the first quarter of 2012, representing an increase of 30.8% from \$1.7 million in the first quarter of 2011. The increase was primarily attributable to additional capital expenditures in IT equipment to support the growth in the headcount. As a percentage of revenues, depreciation and amortization expense was 2.3% in the first quarter of 2012 and 2011.

Other Operating expenses, net

Other operating expenses were \$0.6 million in the first quarter of 2012 due to the issuance of 53,336 shares of common stock to Instant Information Inc., a 2010 asset acquisition, upon the completion of the initial public offering.

Interest and Other Income, Net

Interest income was \$0.4 million in the first quarter of 2012, representing an increase of 124.3% from \$0.2 million in the first quarter of 2011. The increase was primarily driven by the interest paid on cash which increased 100% from an average balance of \$58.3 million during the first quarter of 2011 to \$116.8 million during the first quarter of 2012.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes was \$2.2 million in the first quarter of 2012, increasing from \$2.1 million in the first quarter of 2011. The increase was primarily attributable to significant growth in consolidated pre-tax income. However, in the first quarter of 2012, our worldwide effective tax rate was 15.6% as compared to our worldwide effective tax rate of 17.9% in the first quarter of 2011. The primary reason for the decrease can be attributable to the movement of a portion of our pre-tax income from the United States to countries with lower statutory tax rates such as the United Kingdom, Russia and Belarus; and the reduction in 2012 statutory tax rates in Ukraine, the United Kingdom and, to a lesser extent, in Switzerland.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital Resources

At March 31, 2012, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents totaling \$112.7 million and \$23.4 million of available borrowings under our revolving line of credit. At March 31, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$112.7 million, of which \$64.5 million was held outside the United States, including \$40.5 million held in U.S. dollar denominated accounts in Belarus, which accrued at an average interest rate of 5.7% during the first quarter of 2012. We have a \$30.0 million revolving line of credit with PNC Bank, National Association. Advances under our revolving line of credit accrue interest at an annual rate equal to the London Interbank Offer Rate, or LIBOR, plus 1.25%. Our revolving line of credit is secured by the grant of a security interest in all of our U.S. trade receivables and cash on hand in favor of the bank and contains customary financial and reporting covenants and limitations. We are currently in compliance with all covenants contained in our revolving line of credit and believe that our revolving line of credit provides sufficient flexibility so that we will remain in compliance with its terms in the foreseeable future. Our revolving line of credit expires on October 15, 2013. At March 31, 2012, we had no borrowings outstanding under our revolving line of credit.

The cash and cash equivalents held at locations outside of the United States are for future operating expenses and we have no intention of repatriating those funds. We are not, however, restricted in repatriating those funds back to the United States, if necessary. If we decide to remit funds to the United States in the form of dividends, \$63.8 million would be subject to foreign withholding taxes, of which \$60.5 million would also be subject to U.S. corporate income tax. We believe that our available cash and cash equivalents held in the United States and cash flow to be generated from domestic operations will be adequate to satisfy our domestic liquidity needs in the foreseeable future. Our ability to expand and grow our business in accordance with current plans and to meet our long-term capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the rate, if any, at which our cash flows increase, our continued intent not to repatriate earnings from outside the U.S. and the availability of public and private debt and equity financing.

To the extent we pursue one or more significant strategic acquisitions, we may incur debt or sell additional equity to finance those acquisitions.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

	Three Mon Marc	
	2012	2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Data:		
Net cash (used in)/ provided by operating activities	\$ (4,745)	\$ 362
Net cash used in investing activities	(3,719)	(6,401)
Net cash provided by financing activities	31,309	
Effect of exchange-rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	1,095	666
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$ 23,940	\$ (5,373)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	88,796	54,004
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 112,736	\$ 48,631

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operations decreased by \$5.1 million to \$4.7 million cash outflow during the first quarter of 2012 from \$0.4 million net cash provided by operations during the first quarter of 2011. Increase in net income of \$4.0 million before accounting for non-cash items in the first quarter of 2012 was more than offset by an increase in net trade and unbilled accounts receivable of \$2.5 million and a decrease in accrued compensation of \$7.2 million as a result of higher bonus payments relating to 2011 performance made in the first quarter of 2012 compared to such payments made in the first quarter of 2011. Bonus payments made in the first quarter of 2010 results which were lower than those reported in 2011, thus driving an increase in cash used in operations.

Investing Activities

Net cash of \$3.7 million was used in investing activities during the first quarter of 2012 as compared to \$6.4 million of net cash used in investing activities during the first quarter of 2011. Capital expenditures decreased by \$3.0 million to \$3.3 million in the first quarter of 2012 primarily due to fit-out costs for the expanded facilities incurred in the first quarter of 2011 that didn t recur in the first quarter of 2012. This was partially offset with \$0.6 million spent on construction of a new building in Belarus.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during the first quarter of 2012 increased by \$31.3 million as compared to zero cash flows from financing activities in the same period of 2011. This was primarily due \$31.2 million received in connection with initial public offering of common stock in the first quarter of 2012.

Contractual Obligations and Future Capital Requirements

Contractual Obligations

Set forth below is information concerning our fixed and determinable contractual obligations as of March 31, 2012.

	Total	Less than 1 Year	1-3 Years (in thousands)	3-5 Years	More than 5 years
Operating lease obligations	\$ 25,489	\$ 9,672	\$ 9,617	\$ 3,356	\$ 2,844
Other long-term obligations (1)	16,309	16,309			
	\$ 41,798	\$ 25,981	\$ 9,617	\$ 3,356	\$ 2,844

(1) On December 7, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with IDEAB Project Eesti AS of approximately \$17,209 for the construction of a 14,071 square meter office building within the High Technology Zone in Minsk, Belarus. The building is expected to be operational in the second half of 2012.

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

We do not have any investments in special purpose entities or undisclosed borrowings or debt. Accordingly, our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows are not subject to off-balance sheet risks.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 12 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains estimates and forward-looking statements, principally in Part I. Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Part II. Item 1A. Risk Factors . Our estimates and forward-looking statements are mainly based on our current expectations and estimates of future events and trends, which affect or may affect our businesses and operations. Although we believe that these estimates and forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, they are subject to several risks and uncertainties and are made in light of information

currently available to us. Important factors, in addition to the factors described in this quarterly report, may adversely affect our results as indicated in forward-looking statements. You should read this quarterly report and the documents that we have filed as exhibits hereto completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.

will, should, could, expect, plan, anticipate, believe, estimate, intend, The words may, predict, potential. might, of these terms or other comparable terminology and similar words are intended to identify estimates and forward-looking statements. Estimates and forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they were made, and, except to the extent required by law, we undertake no obligation to update, to revise or to review any estimate and/or forward-looking statement because of new information, future events or other factors. Estimates and forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and are not guarantees of future performance. As a result of the risks and uncertainties described above, the estimates and forward-looking statements discussed in this quarterly report might not occur and our future results, level of activity, performance or achievements may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements due to, including, but not limited to, the factors mentioned above, and the differences may be material and adverse. Because of these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable law.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Concentration of Credit and Other Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and unbilled revenues. These financial instruments approximate fair value due to short-term maturities. We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments with financial institutions. We believe that our credit policies reflect normal industry terms and business risk. We do not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties and, accordingly, do not require collateral.

Trade accounts receivable and unbilled revenues are generally dispersed across our clients in proportion to the revenues. For the first quarter of 2012 and 2011, our top five clients accounted for 34.5% and 34.2% revenues, respectively. One client, Thomson Reuters, accounted for over 10% of revenues in the first quarter of 2011. There were no such customers in the first quarter of 2012. Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues for this client were 15.9% and 15.0% of total accounts receivable and unbilled revenues as of December 31, 2011, respectively.

Credit losses and write-offs of trade accounts receivable balances have historically not been material to our audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our cash and cash equivalents and our revolving line of credit bearing interest at LIBOR plus 1.25% rate. We do not use derivative financial instruments to hedge our risk of interest rate volatility.

We have not been exposed to material risks due to changes in market interest rates. However, our future interest expense may increase and interest income may fall due to changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our condensed consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. However, we generate a significant portion of our revenues in certain non-U.S. dollar currencies, principally, euros, British pounds and Russian rubles. We incur expenditures in non-U.S. dollar currencies, principally in Hungarian forints, euros and Russian rubles associated with our delivery centers located in CEE. We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates primarily on accounts receivable and unbilled revenues from sales in these foreign currencies and cash flows for expenditures in foreign currencies. We do not use derivative financial instruments to hedge the risk of foreign exchange volatility. Our results of operations can be affected if the euro and/or the British pound appreciate or depreciate against the U.S. dollar. Our exchange rate risk primarily arises from our foreign currency revenues and expenses. Based on our results of operations for the first quarter ended March 31, 2012, a 1.0% appreciation / (depreciation) of the euro and the British pound against the U.S. dollar would each result in an estimated increase / (decrease) of approximately \$0.1 million in net income.

To the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into foreign currencies for our operations, appreciation of such foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar would adversely affect the amount of such foreign currencies we receive from the conversion. Sensitivity analysis is used as a primary tool in evaluating the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices on our business operations. The analysis quantifies the impact of potential changes in these rates and prices on our earnings, cash flows and fair values of assets and liabilities during the forecast period, most commonly within a one-year period. The ranges of changes used for the purpose of this analysis reflect our view of changes that are reasonably possible over the forecast period. Fair values are the present value of projected future cash flows based on market rates and chosen prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2012, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as to the effectiveness, design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. The term disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent and/or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefit of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitation in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) were effective as of March 31, 2012.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2012, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATAION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Although we may, from time to time, be involved in litigation and claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business, we are not currently a party to any material legal proceeding. In addition, we are not aware of any material legal or governmental proceedings against us, or contemplated to be brought against us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes with respect to the risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered Sales of Securities

In January 2012 we issued 194,800 shares of restricted common stock to one of our executive officers with an unrecognized compensation cost of \$2.3 million. The recipient was an accredited investor within the meaning of Regulation D under the Securities Act. In January 2012, we issued 11,764 shares of restricted common stock to our non-employee directors with an unrecognized compensation cost of \$0.1 million.

No underwriters were involved in the foregoing sales of securities. The issuances of the securities described above were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D or Rule 701 promulgated thereunder.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The table below presents share activity for the three months ended March 31, 2012.

Period	Total number of shares purchased(1)	Average price paid per share	Total number of shareMaximu purchased as part of publicly announced plans or programs	um number (or approximate dolla of shares that may yet be purchased under the plans or programs	ar value)
January 1-31, 2012					
February 1-29, 2012	26,323	12.00			
March 1-31, 2012	6,703	18.10			
Total	33,026	13.24			

(1) Consists of shares retained by the Company through net share settlements in connection with the satisfaction of the exercise price and tax withholding obligations with respect to the exercise of stock options by certain employees. The shares retained by the Company through these net share settlements were not a part of a Board-authorized repurchase program but instead were authorized under the Company s equity compensation plans.

Use of Proceeds from the Sales of Registered Securities

On February 13, 2012, we completed our initial public offering of common stock pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (Reg. No. 333-174827), that was declared effective on February 7, 2012. Under the registration statement, we registered the offering and sale of an aggregate of 6,900,000 shares of common stock. All of the 6,900,000 shares of common stock registered under the registration statement, which included 900,000 shares of common stock sold by us pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters, were sold at a price to the public of \$12.00 per share. Citigroup Global Markets Inc., UBS Securities LLC, Barclays Capital Inc. and Renaissance Securities (Cyprus) Limited acted as joint book-running managers of the offering and as representatives of the underwriters. Of the 6,900,000 shares of common stock sold, we issued and sold 2,900,000 shares of common stock and the selling stockholders sold 4,000,000 shares of common stock, resulting in gross proceeds to us of \$34.8 million, and \$29.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$2.4 million and offering expenses of \$3.4 million. The offering expenses include SEC registration fees, FINRA filing fees, NYSE listing fees and expenses, legal fees and expenses, printing expenses, transfer agent fees and expenses, accounting fees and expenses as well as other miscellaneous fees and expenses. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders.

None of the net proceeds we received from our initial public offering were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning ten percent or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliate, other than in the form of wages or salaries and bonuses paid out in the ordinary course of business. The net proceeds we received from our initial public offering have been and will be used for general corporate purposes, such as for working capital, for acquiring facilities, and for potential strategic acquisitions of, or investments in, other businesses or technologies that we believe will complement our current business and expansion strategies.

Item 5. Other Information

The annual meeting of the stockholders of EPAM (the Annual Meeting) was held on February 3, 2012. At the Annual Meeting, the stockholders voted on the following proposal and cast their votes as described below:

The individuals below were elected serve until the expiration of their term (as provided below) until their successors were duly elected and qualified.

			Number of Votes		
Name	Class	Term Expiration	For	Against	Abstain
Karl Robb	Ι	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2013	10,245,570		6,864
Ross Goodhart	Ι	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2013	16,439,480		
Andrew J. Guff	II	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2014	16,439,480		
Donald P. Spencer	II	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2014	16,439,480		
Ronald P. Vargo	II	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2014	29,007,266		6,864
Arkadiy Dobkin	III	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2015	10,245,570		6,864
Robert Segert	III	Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2015	29,007,266		6,864
Item 6. Exhibits					

Exhibit Number

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Description

- 31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
- 32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 101.INS XBRL Instance Document
- 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
- 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
- 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
- 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
- 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 9, 2012

EPAM SYSTEMS, INC.

- By: /s/ Arkadiy Dobkin Name: Arkadiy Dobkin Title: Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President (principal executive officer)
- By: /s/ Ilya Cantor Name: Ilya Cantor Title: Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer (principal financial officer and principal

accounting officer)